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GENDER DISCRIMINATION

Former UCLA professor awarded $13 million  
for gender discrimination, retaliation
By Tricia Gorman

A Los Angeles jury has awarded more than $13 million to a former medical professor 
at the University of California, Los Angeles, who said the school discriminated against 
her because of her gender and retaliated against her for complaining of harassment.

EQUAL PAY

Unequal pay for women ‘systemic’ at Vice Media, suit says
By Tricia Gorman

A former manager for Vice Media Inc. says the digital media and broadcasting  
company’s male-dominated management violates federal, California and New York 
law by discriminating against female employees in pay and promotion opportunities.

Pinter-Brown v. Regents of the University of 
California, No. BC624838, verdict issued,  
2018 WL 1046325 (Cal. Super. Ct., L.A. Cty.  
Feb. 15, 2018).

In finding for Dr. Lauren Pinter-Brown on her 
state law sex discrimination and retaliation 
claims against the Regents of the University 
of California, the Los Angeles County Superior 
Court jury said her damages included more than 

$3 million in past and future lost wages, and  
$10 million in emotional distress.

However, the jury found for the regents on Pinter-
Brown’s state law age discrimination claim.

Her attorney, Carney Shegerian of Shegerian & 
Associates in Santa Monica, praised the jury after 
the verdict and suggested a larger issue within 
the university system.

REUTERS/Mike Segar

The complaint quotes a statement in which Vice’s founders Shane 
Smith (L) and Suroosh Alvi (R), shown here in 2016, allegedly admitted 
inequality in the company between men and women.

Rose v. Vice Media Inc. et al., No. BC693688, 
complaint filed, 2018 WL 850994 (Cal. Super. 
Ct., L.A. Cty. Feb. 13, 2018).

Elizabeth Rose filed the proposed class-action 
suit Feb. 13 in the Los Angeles County Superior 
Court, alleging the company pays women 
thousands of dollars less than men in the same 
positions and promotes less experienced men 
over women.

Vice Media Inc. and related company Vice  
Media LLC are Delaware corporations based in  
Los Angeles and New York. They produce  
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SEXUAL HARASSMENT

Report: Majority of boards lack plan for responding  
to sexual harassment claims
By Sanaa A. Ansari

U.S. companies paid nearly $300 million from 2010-2016 to settle employee sexual harassment allegations,  
according to a recent report from the Council of Institutional Investors, a nonprofit association of pension and  
employee benefit funds.

Despite the appreciable financial and 
reputational consequences of misconduct, 
88 percent of board directors said they “had 
no plan to respond to sexual harassment,” CII 
said in its report released this month.

Male-dominated power dynamics and 
decentralized, isolated workspaces are key 
factors that make harassment more likely 
to occur, the report titled “How Corporate 
Boards Can Combat Sexual Harassment” 
says.

The CII report suggests steps that directors 
can take to mitigate the risk of sexual 
harassment at their companies through 
governance, policy and company culture, 
and encourages investors to question boards 
about their oversight of workplace behavior.

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURES  
AND BOARD COMPOSITION

In order to successfully combat sexual 
harassment, companies must properly 
establish sound governance structures, 
including clear and consistent policies and 
“open lines of communication for employees 
to report bad behavior and established 
methods of responding,” the report says.

According to CII, independent and diverse 
directors may bring differing perspectives 
to the board and hold management 
accountable. Ensuring that at least  
30 percent of directorships are held by 
females and minorities can help to cultivate 
diverse perspectives, according to CII.

The association recommends that boards 
create a “chief diversity and inclusion officer” 
position to manage day-to-day cultural 
issues and establish an ethics subcommittee 
to monitor diversity and inclusion metrics.

Boards should regularly include sexual 
harassment in their risk assessments, 
examine their companies’ sexual harassment 
policies and discuss company culture on a 
regular basis, the report suggests. CII said 
boards should routinely survey employees 
about the workplace environment, with 
responses reaching directors.

In addition, employee sexual harassment 
training should be tailored to each position.

“Training for the board and executives should 
focus on leadership positions; for middle 
managers, building trust and open lines of 
communication with employees; for HR, 
serving employees and handling reports;  
and for entry-level employees, introducing 
them to the workplace culture,” the report 
says.

Boards should adopt hiring practices that 
promote diversity, including outreach 
initiatives to recruit women and minorities, 
CII says. According to the report, boards 
should also make it a policy to consider at 
least one woman and minority candidate for 
each open position, a practice known as the 
Rooney Rule.

To ensure board accountability, CII 
encourages investors to question boards 
regularly on how and if they are implementing 
the recommendations put forth in the 
association’s report.  WJ

Incidents of sexual harassment should 
trigger executive compensation clawbacks, 
and violations of sexual harassment policies 
should constitute “for cause” termination 
under executives’ employment agreements, 
the report suggests.

CLEAR POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

Boards must ensure coordination between 
the human resources and legal teams to 
develop effective anti-sexual harassment 
policies and diversity and inclusion initiatives, 
CII says.

They should also ensure there is a clear 
procedure in place for employees to 
report incidents to “approachable” front-
line managers, the report says. CII says  
companies should implement a mechanism 
that allows employees to report sexual 
harassment directly to the companies’ 
boards.

In addition to reporting measures, companies 
must have clear procedures for investigating 
complaints, the report suggests. Clear 
investigation procedures are especially 
important in companies where there are 
widespread issues with officers and senior 
managers, CII says.

Companies should also have clear policies 
on when sexual harassment incidents  
should be reported to shareholders, 
according to the report.

COMPANY CULTURE

In order to create a culture of trust in which 
employees feel comfortable speaking up 
about concerns, the board must ensure 
management sets the right tone at the top, 
CII says.
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WHISTLEBLOWER

6th Circuit says constructive discharge claims 
don’t require proof of intent
(Reuters) – A U.S. appeals court March 2 said that plaintiffs who sue their former employers for constructive discharge 
under a federal whistleblower law do not need to show that their supervisors intentionally forced them out of their jobs.

the companies had the resources to treat 
them. In her lawsuit filed in January 2017, 
she says she learned that some nurses were 
skipping required clinical evaluations of new 
patients and doctoring referral paperwork.

Smith said in her lawsuit that her supervisors 
ignored her concerns, and one told her that 
the scheme brought in $6 million annually 
for the companies. Smith claims that if she 
continued to work for LHC, she could have 
opened herself up to criminal prosecution, so 
she quit in 2016.

Smith accused LHC of retaliation in violation 
of the FCA and is seeking lost pay and 
benefits and compensatory and punitive 
damages.

LHC denied any wrongdoing and said Smith 
had failed to allege that the company took 
any adverse action against her after she 
complained.

U.S. District Judge Karen Caldwell in 
June granted LHC’s motion to dismiss, 
saying Smith offered no evidence that LHC 
management intended to make her job so 

Smith v. LHC Group Inc. et al., No. 17-5850, 
2018 WL 1136072 (6th Cir. Mar. 2, 2018).

A unanimous three-judge panel of the 
6th U.S. Circuit Court of Appeals in an 
unpublished opinion revived a False Claims 
Act lawsuit by Sue Smith, a former nursing 
director for Louisiana-based home health 
care agency LHC Group Inc. who said she 
quit because her position required her to take 
part in a scheme to defraud Medicare and 
Medicaid.

The decision reversed a June 2017 ruling by 
a federal judge in Louisville, Kentucky, who 
said Smith had not alleged that LHC and a 
subsidiary, Kentucky LV LLC, “did anything 
directly toward her to make her quit her job.”

LHC’s lawyers at Alston & Bird and Frost 
Brown Todd did not respond to requests for 
comment. Nor did Smith’s lawyer, Robert 
Abell.

As the director of nursing for LHC and 
Kentucky LV, Smith was responsible for 
accepting new patients and deciding whether 

WHISTLEBLOWER

Environmental services firm to pay worker  
who made safety complaint
By Carin Ford

An environmental contractor in Ohio has agreed to pay $21,000 in back wages to an employee who was allegedly  
fired for filing a safety complaint with the U.S. Department of Labor’s Occupational Safety and Health Administration, 
according to a DOL statement.

Environmental Management Specialists Inc. 
of Steubenville, Ohio, will also remove any 
references to the employee’s termination 
from his record, the federal agency said.

The part-time field technician had filed 
complaints with OSHA saying that employees 
who cleaned storage tanks were exposed to 

respiratory hazards in a confined space, the 
statement said.

The whistleblower also said the company did 
not adequately supervise the workers, provide 
escape respirators or medically evaluate the 
workers for fitness to use respiratory protection 
equipment, according to court documents.

The settlement resolves a lawsuit that was 
filed under the anti-retaliation provisions 
of the Occupational Safety and Health Act,  
29 U.S.C.A. § 651, the statement said.  WJ

Related Filings: 
Press release: 2018 WL 915867

intolerable that she would quit. Smith v. LHC 
Group Inc., No. 17-cv-15, 2017 WL 2838048 
(E.D. Ky. June 30, 2017).

The 6th Circuit on March 2, however, said 
the FCA does not require proof of subjective 
intent to force a worker to quit. Instead, 
the law requires a “more general intent” to 
require employees to engage in unlawful 
conduct, and Smith showed that by claiming 
she faced a choice between quitting or 
breaking the law, the court said.

“A jury may conclude that it is damaging to 
a professional to require her to engage in 
activity she considers illegal and immoral,” 
Circuit Judge Gilbert Merritt wrote, “with the 
threat of prosecution and loss of her nursing 
license looming in the background.”

The panel included Circuit Judges Karen 
Moore and John Bush.  WJ

(Reporting by Daniel Wiessner)

Related Filings: 
Opinion: 2018 WL 1136072

See Document Section B (P. 32) for the opinion.
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WHISTLEBLOWER

Church settles OSHA suit over firing  
related to negative Facebook posts
By Tricia Gorman

An Arkansas church has agreed to pay a deceased former employee’s wife more than $62,000 to settle Occupational 
Safety and Health Administration claims it fired her over her husband’s negative comments about the church on Facebook.

Acosta v. Soldiers of the Cross et al.,  
No. 17-cv-5014, consent judgment filed 
(W.D. Ark. Feb. 8, 2018).

The church’s parent company, Soldiers of the 
Cross, and Pastor David Murphy agreed to a 
consent judgment with the U.S. Department 
of Labor on Feb. 8 without admitting to the 
agency’s claims it violated Section 11(c) of the 
Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970, 
29 U.S.C.A. § 660(c).

Shepherd’s Chapel Church, based in 
Gravette, Arkansas, began televising its bible 
study teachings in 1985. It broadcasts daily 
on 150 stations across the United States  
and Canada.

PROTECTED WHISTLEBLOWER 
ACTIONS

OSHA filed the suit in January 2017 in the 
U.S. District Court for the Western District 
of Arkansas, alleging the church retaliated 
against whistleblower Darrin Carnahan 
and his wife, Kimberly, after he claimed the 
church building’s ventilation system made 
him sick.

Darrin Carnahan died Nov. 26, 2016, of lung 
cancer that had spread to his brain and bone.

According to the suit, Carnahan expressed 
concerns to his supervisor about poor 
ventilation in the church’s print shop and 
said the shop’s toner cartridges contained 
carcinogens. The supervisor allegedly failed 
to respond to his concerns.

In October 2015 Carnahan took time off for 
a medical and legal emergency and asked 
to speak with the church’s board of directors 
about the alleged unsafe conditions upon his 
return, the suit said.

Instead of allowing him to speak to the 
board, Murray claimed the following day that 
Carnahan had submitted his resignation. 

 REUTERS/Rick Wilking

Carnahan denied that he resigned and filed 
a complaint with OSHA.

In January 2016 Murray saw three Facebook 
posts in which Carnahan criticized how the 
church treated him and its failure to respond 
to his safety concerns, and said he had 
developed cancer from his work in the print 
shop, according to the complaint.

Murray confronted Kimberly Carnahan, 
who also worked at the church, about her 
husband’s posts, but she denied knowing 
anything about them, the suit said.

Stating that Kimberly Carnahan was “biting 
the hand that feeds you,” Murray terminated 
her employment Jan. 13, 2016, for alleged 
insubordination, according to the suit.  
She filed a complaint with OSHA about a 
month later.

OSHA’s lawsuit said the church’s actions 
against the Carnahans violated federal 
whistleblower protections in Section 11(c) 
of the OSH Act, which prohibits employers 

from retaliating against workers who report  
job-related safety or health problems.

The suit sought compensatory and punitive 
damages, reinstatement and injunctive  
relief to prevent the church from further 
violating the law.

CLAIMS RESOLVED

To settle the claims, the church has agreed 
to pay Kimberly Carnahan a total of $62,500 
— $32,500 in back wages, plus $30,000 
in compensatory damages for emotional 
distress.

The only information the church will provide 
to Carnahan’s future prospective employers 
is her dates of employment, title and salary, 
according to the consent agreement.  WJ

Attorneys:
Plaintiff: Brian L. Hurt, U.S. Labor Department, 
Office of the Solicitor, Dallas, TX

Defendants: George Rozzell, Keith, Miller, Butler, 
Schneider & Pawlik, Rogers, AR
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RETALIATION

Adjuster accuses insurer of illegal claims practices, harassment
By Kteba Dunlap, Esq.

A fired claims adjuster is alleging in California state court that her former employer, American Modern Home Insurance 
Co., maintained a hostile work environment and violated claims-handling laws before terminating her in retaliation for 
her repeated complaints.

Walter v. American Modern Home Insurance 
Co. et al., No. BC694491, complaint filed, 
2018 WL 1095769 (Cal. Super. Ct., L.A. Cty. 
Feb. 20, 2018).

In a complaint, filed Feb. 20 in the  
Los Angeles County Superior Court, Lisa 
Walter alleges numerous instances of 
discrimination, obstruction and illegal claims 
practices over a two-year period.

AMHI and co-defendant Randy Beal, a 
Houston-based field manager, face claims of 
wrongful termination, sexual discrimination 
and harassment. Walter alleges hostile 
behavior toward her because of her gender 
and because she pointed out illegal practices.

CLAIMS REPORTEDLY MISHANDLED

According to the complaint, Walter — who 
worked in AMHI’s Los Angeles office for eight 
years before her 2017 dismissal — contacted 
senior executives and the company’s legal 
department multiple times with concerns 
about her division’s dubious claims practices.

Walter says that Beal, her direct supervisor, 
cut costs by ignoring state and federal 
requirements and company policies, 
including by refusing her requests for 
asbestos and lead tests on insured homes.

In addition, the insurer’s legal department 
repeatedly told her not to document claims 

procedures and to omit documents from 
case files, in violation of California’s Fair 
Claims Settlement Practices Regulations,  
10 Cal. Code Regs. § 2695.3, the suit says. 

Walter alleges that AMHI management’s 
responses to her reports of bad faith ranged 
from ignoring them altogether to verbally 
berating her.

DISCRIMINATION AND 
HARASSMENT?

Beal in particular created a hostile work 
environment for Walter, the suit says.

For example, he routinely passed her over for 
claims assignments in her territory in favor 
of out-of-state male adjusters, according to 
the complaint, which says the snubs resulted 
in her missing her annual quota and the 
accompanying financial rewards.

When she complained about unfair 
treatment, Beal would often yell at her, 
threaten to fire her and refuse to engage with 
the human resources department, the suit 
says.

He also singled Walter out for negative 
treatment, such as by denying her expense 
reports, according to the complaint.

The human resources department and senior 
executives either refused to address Walter’s 
harassment complaints or attempted to 

placate her with false promises, she claims. 
When Beal learned she went to human 
resources, he reassigned her work to male 
adjusters, the suit says.

TERMINATION

AMHI terminated Walter’s employment in 
April 2017 after she confronted the insurer 
with the allegation that management had 
falsified the employee comments section 
of her most recent performance review, 
according to the suit.

Beal’s stated basis for the firing was Walter’s 
handling of two claims several years earlier, 
but she had recently received positive reviews 
and won several performance awards, 
including one issued after her dismissal, the 
complaint says.

Walter seeks damages for gender 
discrimination, retaliation, breach of contract, 
wrongful termination and emotional distress.  
WJ

Attorneys:
Plaintiff: Carney R. Shegerian, Anthony Nguyen, 
Kristina Unanyan and Cortney Shegerian, 
Shegerian & Associates, Santa Monica, CA

Related Filings: 
Complaint: 2018 WL 1095769
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WAGE AND HOUR

FLSA plaintiffs not required to allege willfulness in pleadings,  
10th Circuit says
(Reuters) – A federal appeals court March 2 revived wage-and-hour claims against a Denver cleaning company, ruling 
that the plaintiffs were not required to allege in their complaint that the violations they were suing over were willful in 
order to qualify for an extended statute of limitations period under federal wage law.

Fernandez et al. v. Clean House LLC et al., 
No. 17-1230, 2018 WL 1123873 (10th Cir. 
Mar. 2, 2018).

A unanimous three-judge panel of the  
10th U.S. Circuit Court of Appeals said 
Clean House could not have the claims 
dismissed at the pleading stage for failure 
to state timely claims. Defendants seeking 
dismissal of Fair Labor Standards Act  
claims on statute-of-limitations grounds 
typically must raise it as an affirmative 
defense on summary judgment, then 
plaintiffs have to prove willfulness to 
overcome that defense, the panel said.

“This is one of the unusual circumstances 
where the burdens of pleading and 
persuasion are not on the same party,” Circuit 
Judge Harris Hartz wrote for the panel.

The plaintiffs’ attorney, Penn Dodson 
of AndersonDodson, said the ruling is 
important for plaintiffs because it prevents 
their lawsuits from being thrown out before 
discovery in a case begins.

Clean House’s lawyer, Teresa Wilkins, was not 
available for comment.

The decision stems from a lawsuit brought 
in 2016 against Clean House by three  
former house cleaners in federal court 
in Colorado. They claimed the company 
misclassified them as independent 

“This is one of the unusual 
circumstances where  

the burdens of pleading  
and persuasion are not  

on the same party,”  
the appeals panel said.

contractors and, as a result, denied them 
overtime pay, minimum wages and other 
benefits required under the Fair Labor 
Standards Act and Colorado law.

Two of the three plaintiffs had worked 
for Clean House between two and three  
years prior to filing the complaint. The 
FLSA and state law have two-year statutes 
of limitations for claims, but extend that to 
three years for willful violations.

The plaintiffs appealed in 2017, arguing 
it is unreasonable to expect plaintiffs to 
have information to support willfulness 
allegations prior to discovery.

Clean House countered that delaying 
consideration of the statute of limitations to 
the summary judgment phase could make 
defending against frivolous claims more 
expensive.

In the March 2 ruling, the 10th Circuit panel 
said it can “sympathize with any defendant 
facing a meritless claim,” but its ruling 
follows the usual practice for affirmative 
defenses.

“The defendant’s first line of defense in 
that circumstance is ordinarily summary 
judgment, not dismissal on the pleadings,” 
said the panel, which also included Circuit 
Judges Mary Beck Briscoe and Gregory 
Phillips.  WJ

(Reporting by Robert Iafolla)

Attorneys:
Plaintiffs-appellants: Alexander L. Gastman and 
Penn A. Dodson, AndersonDodson PC, New York, 
NY

Defendants-appellees: Teresa M. Wilkins, 
Englewood, CO

Related Filings: 
Opinion: 2018 WL 1123873

See Document Section C (P. 39) for the opinion.

Clean House moved to dismiss the claims 
that dated back more than two years,  
arguing the plaintiffs failed to include  
enough facts to make their claims that 
the company willfully violated wage laws 
plausible.

U.S. District Judge Lewis Babcock in Denver 
agreed with Clean House in 2017, tossing the 
older wage claims. Aguilar v. Clean House 
LLC, No. 16-cv-2140, 2017 WL 4221398  
(D. Colo. Mar. 2, 2017).
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JOINT EMPLOYER

NLRB asks D.C. Circuit to take back  
Browning-Ferris case
(Reuters) – An ongoing saga over the National Labor Relations Board’s  
standard for determining joint employment took another turn March 1,  
with the board calling on a U.S. appeals court to wade back into the fray.

Browning-Ferris Industries of California  
Inc. v. National Labor Relations Board,  
No. 16-1028, motion to recall mandate filed 
(D.C. Cir. Mar. 1, 2018).

The board asked the U.S. Court of Appeals 
for the D.C. Circuit to recall a case involving 
Browning-Ferris Industries that it had 
agreed to remand to it in December, after 
the NLRB in a separate case that month 
adopted a new standard for determining 
when companies are liable for labor law 
violations by contractors and franchisees. 
The board vacated the recent decision  
Feb. 26 in light of Member William Emanuel’s 
conflict of interest, so the court should undo 
the remand, the agency’s lawyers said.

The D.C. Circuit in March 2017 heard oral 
arguments in Browning-Ferris’ challenge to 
the board’s 2015 ruling, which the agency 
overruled in Hy-Brand Industrial Contractors 
Ltd., 365 N.L.R.B. No. 156 (2017). Emanuel’s 
former law firm, Littler Mendelson, 
represents staffing company Leadpoint 
Business Services, which employed workers 
at a recycling plant in California operated by 
Browning-Ferris.

On Feb. 26, the board agreed with a report 
from the agency’s inspector general that said 
Emanuel should have been recused from the 
Hy-Brand case because of its direct impact 
on Browning-Ferris. Hy-Brand Industrial 
Contractors Ltd. et al., 366 N.L.R.B. No. 26 
(2018).

Business groups had heavily criticized 
Browning-Ferris and praised the Hy-Brand 
decision, saying it would restore certainty 
and flexibility to companies’ relationships 
with contractors and franchisees.

Lawyers for Browning-Ferris at Seyfarth 
Shaw did not respond to a request for 
comment.

The case was brought in 2013 by an 
International Brotherhood of Teamsters 

local that was trying to organize workers 
at a Browning-Ferris recycling plant in 
California, and claimed the company and the 
staffing agency were their joint employers.  
The Teamsters’ lawyer, Susan Garea of 
Beeson Tayer & Bodine, said the union agrees 
with the board’s motion.

“The NLRB rightly vacated Hy-Brand given 
Member Emanuel’s conflicts,” she said,  
“and that conflicted decision should not 
serve as an ongoing blockade to the workers 
from exercising their right to unionize.”

In the March 1 motion, lawyers for the  
board cited a 1980 D.C. Circuit decision in 
Dilley v. Alexander, 627 F.2d 407, that said an 
order remanding a case can be recalled in 
“exceptional circumstances.”

“Although the facts here are unusual, the 
court has recognized generally that post-
mandate legal developments can serve as 
the basis for recalling (a) mandate,” they 
wrote.

In Browning-Ferris, the board in 2015 had  
said companies with indirect control over 
working conditions may be joint employers. 
Browning-Ferris Indus. of Cal., 362 N.L.R.B. 
No. 186 (2015). In Hy-Brand, the NLRB 
reverted back to a standard that says 
companies are joint employers only when 
they exercise direct control over workers.

Browning-Ferris in its appeal to the D.C. 
Circuit said the board’s revised standard  
was unworkable and went against the 
National Labor Relations Act.

The D.C. Circuit heard arguments in 
Browning-Ferris in March 2017. During 
arguments, members of the three-judge 
panel said the NLRB’s decision was not  
clear enough about which terms of 
employment Browning-Ferris supposedly 
controlled.  WJ

(Reporting by Daniel Wiessner)

WESTLAW JOURNAL

COMPUTER
&

INTERNET

This publication, previously 
known as the Computer 

and Online Industry 
Litigation Reporter, follows 

the lawsuits arising from 
the use of the Internet for 
business and recreation, 
as well as cases involving 
computer hardware and 

software. This publication 
helps you stay abreast 

of the latest pretrial 
activities and winning case 

strategies in this quickly 
changing area of litigation. 

Each issue covers cases 
involving intellectual 

property, national and 
international jurisdictional 
issues, antitrust, Internet 

regulation, computer 
crime, and privacy issues, 
including issues arising 

from the increasing use of 
social networking sites like 
Facebook and MySpace.

Call your West representative for more information  
about our print and online subscription packages,  

or call 800.328.9352 to subscribe.



MARCH 13, 2018  n  VOLUME 32  n  ISSUE 17  |  9© 2018 Thomson Reuters

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Equilar report previews new CEO pay ratio requirements
By Alex Rose

In companies that top $15 billion in revenues, chief executive compensation can total more than 260 times the  
compensation for a median employee, according to the “CEO Pay Ratio Survey” recently published by executive  
compensation benchmarking company Equilar Inc.

The Feb. 1 report illustrates how certain 
companies intend to implement new 
rules taking effect this year under the  
Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and 
Consumer Protection Act, which requires 
disclosure in proxy statements of total 
CEO compensation in relation to a median 
employee.

CALCULATING PAY

Equilar says companies must determine 
how they will identify the median employee, 
which can include factoring out certain  
non-U.S. workers. Once that figure is 
established, a “consistently applied 
compensation measure,” such as W-2 
reported income on taxes, is applied to the 
remaining employees across the board.

Companies must then look at the total 
amount of compensation provided to the 
CEO and calculate the ratio of CEO pay to 
the median employee. Dodd-Frank requires 
both the total compensation of the median 
employee and the CEO pay ratio to be 
disclosed, the report says.

KEY FINDINGS

Equilar surveyed 356 companies expected 
to disclose CEO pay ratio information for 
the first time this year. The survey set out 

to establish certain benchmarks for the 
pay ratio by examining factors like revenue, 
industry sector and geographic location. 

The survey also sought to gauge how 
companies intend to implement employee 
exclusions and calculation methodologies, 
Equilar said.

Equilar found the median CEO pay ratio 
across all submitting companies was  
140-to-1. The ratio ranged from 72-to-1 at 
the 25th percentile to 246-to-1 at the 75th 
percentile, while the average was 241-to-1, 
according to the report.

Smaller companies with less than 2,310 
employees had the lowest CEO pay ratio, at 
45-to-1, while those with the largest number 
of employees — more than 43,000 — had the 
greatest disparity, with a ratio of 318-to-1.

The survey also found this difference  
tracked with revenues. Companies with  
less than $1 billion in revenues showed a  
CEO pay ratio of 47-to-1 and those with  
more than $15 billion had a ratio of 263-to-1.

In regard to industry sectors, energy 
companies reported the lowest median ratio 
at 72-to-1, while “consumer discretionary” 
companies, such as those in the retail  
and hospitality sectors, had the highest 
median ratio of 350-to-1, according to the 
report.

Companies with headquarters in the 
southeastern United States reported the 
highest median ratio at 153-to-1, and those 
headquartered in the Pacific region showed 
the lowest with 113-to-1, the report said.

The highest number of respondents, 58, 
came from the industrial sector, while the 
lowest came from telecommunications, 
which had five respondents. One hundred 
and twenty eight respondents had revenues 
ranging from $1 billion to $5 billion, and  
79 respondents had revenues above  
$15 billion. 

The survey also showed an even number of 
companies — 71 apiece — responded in each 
of five categories related to company size.

Midwestern companies led the geographic 
metric at 92 respondents, while companies 
in the southwest accounted for just 43.  
A handful of companies headquartered in 
Canada, the Caribbean and Europe also 
responded, according to the report.

Equilar said 46.4 percent of the responding 
companies used a component of cash 
compensation to determine the median 
employee, 21.4 percent used a W-2, and 19.7 
percent used cash, stock and options awards.

Of the 356 companies that submitted 
responses, 168 provided additional optional 
commentary on methodological factors, 
according to the report.  WJ
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SUPREME COURT DEVELOPMENTS

Recent Supreme Court employment law developments
By Tricia Gorman

In recent weeks, the U.S. Supreme Court has taken a number of actions in employment-related cases, including limiting 
retiree health benefits, rejecting an attempt to broaden corporate whistleblower protections and hearing argument on a 
dispute over union fees for nonmembers.

No lifetime health benefits under CBA’s clear expiration clause

In a per curiam ruling Feb. 20, the high court said retirees had no 
claims for lifetime health care benefits under their former employers’ 
expired collective bargaining agreement. The 6th U.S. Circuit Court of 
Appeals incorrectly presumed that the agreement provided lifetime 
coverage despite a clear general durational clause under which all 
benefits ended when the CBA expired in 2004 unless otherwise 
specified, the high court said. Six retirees filed a class action against 
CNH Industrial in Detroit federal court in 2004 under the Employee 
Retirement Income Security Act, seeking a declaration that they were 
entitled to lifetime benefits. The trial court found the CBA ambiguous, 
saying that except for the general durational clause, the agreement 
did not specify when retirees’ health care benefits would expire. 
The 6th Circuit affirmed the decision last year. The Supreme Court 
reversed, ruling the appellate panel had misapplied the decision 
in M&G Polymers USA v. Tackett, 135 S. Ct. 926 (2015), which said a 
court should apply ordinary principles of contract law to interpret 
CBA provisions, instead of presuming that benefits vest for life.  
CNH Industrial NV v. Reese, No. 17-515, 2018 WL 942419 (U.S.  
Feb. 20, 2018).

Dodd-Frank protects whistleblowers only if they  
bring concerns to SEC

The Supreme Court ruled Feb. 21 that corporate whistleblowers 
must report suspected wrongdoing to the Securities and Exchange 
Commission, not just internally, to be protected from retaliation 
under the 2010 Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer 
Protection Act. The unanimous high court rejected claims by Paul 
Somers, who said he was fired as a vice president at Digital Realty 
Trust Inc. in retaliation for reporting possible securities law violations 
to the company’s senior management. A San Francisco federal court 
said Somers could pursue his retaliation suit under Dodd-Frank, and 
the 9th U.S. Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed in March 2017. On the 
company’s appeal, the high court reversed, ruling that Dodd-Frank 
clearly defines whistleblowers as only those who bring violation 
concerns to the SEC. Digital Realty Trust Inc. v. Somers, No. 16-1276, 
2018 WL 987345 (U.S. Feb. 21, 2018).

Supreme Court will review case over ADEA’s application  
to small public employers

The high court agreed Feb. 26 to hear a case over whether the Age 
Discrimination in Employment Act applies equally to public and 
private workplaces. An Arizona fire district asked the high court 
to review a 9th U.S. Circuit Court of Appeals decision that said the 
ADEA applies to political subdivisions in the state with fewer than  

20 employees. The Mount Lemmon Fire District argues the 9th Circuit 
decision created a circuit split because several other federal appeals 
courts have ruled that the 20-employee threshold contained in the  
ADEA’s definition of employer applies to both state subdivisions and 
private employers. Two former firefighters who sued Mount Lemmon, 
which has 19 employees, for age discrimination argue the ADEA  
does not impose a size limit on the statute’s coverage of political 
subdivisions. An Arizona federal court dismissed the firefighters’ 
discrimination suit in 2014, saying the ADEA applies only to 
subdivisions with at least 20 employees. The 9th Circuit overturned 
the decision last year. Mount Lemmon Fire District v. Guido, No. 17-587, 
cert. granted, 2018 WL 1037578 (U.S. Feb. 26, 2018).

High court to decide if arbitration exemption applies to 
independent contractors

The Supreme Court agreed Feb. 26 to hear a dispute over whether 
the Federal Arbitration Act’s exemption for transportation industry 
workers with employment agreements applies to independent 
contractors. Trucking company New Prime Inc. is appealing a  
1st U.S. Circuit Court of Appeals decision that a contractor’s 
arbitration clause is unenforceable because independent contractors 
are exempt. Former New Prime driver Dominic Oliveira sued the 
company in Massachusetts federal court in 2015, alleging the 
company misclassified him as an independent contractor and failed 
to pay minimum wage under federal and state law. The trial judge 
denied New Prime’s motion to compel arbitration under Oliveira’s 
independent contractor agreement, saying the court has the 
authority to decide if the contract falls under the FAA’s exemption 
but first must determine if Oliveira is an employee or contractor.  
The 1st Circuit agreed that courts have the authority to decide  
whether the exemption applies and concluded the exemption  
covers independent contractors. New Prime Inc. v. Oliveira, No. 17-340, 
cert. granted, 2018 WL 1037577 (U.S. Feb. 26, 2018).

Justices weigh mandatory agency fees for nonmembers  
of public unions

The high court heard oral argument Feb. 26 over whether mandatory 
fees charged to nonmembers of public employee unions infringe 
on workers’ free speech rights. The court’s conservative justices 
questioned the lawfulness of the fees in terms of the political nature 
of the collective bargaining process, though the court’s newest 
member, Justice Neil Gorsuch, asked no questions during the 
argument. Illinois government worker Mark Janus intervened in a suit 
brought by the state governor in 2015 challenging the fees, saying 
they force workers to fund political activities with which they disagree. 
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The suit seeks to overturn the high court’s decision in Abood v. Detroit 
Board of Education, 431 U.S. 209 (1977), which allowed public sector 
unions to charge “agency fees” to pay for collective bargaining and 
other nonpolitical expenses. An affiliate of the American Federation 
of State, County and Municipal Employees argues the fees do not 
subsidize public unions’ political activities but go toward protecting 
member and nonmember workers in negotiations involving salaries, 

overtime requirements, vacations and other nonpolitical issues.  
Janus v. American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees, 
Council 31, No. 16-1466, oral argument held, 2018 WL 1050563 (U.S. 
Feb. 26, 2018).  WJ

Related Filings: 
CNH opinion: 2018 WL 942419 
Digital Realty opinion: 2018 WL 987345 
Janus oral argument transcript: 2018 WL 150563

BREACH OF DUTY

Manager breached duties by secretly working for rival,  
company says
The former head of an industrial services company’s coatings division breached his fiduciary duties, usurped business 
opportunities and stole trade secrets while moonlighting for a competitor, according to a lawsuit filed in the Delaware 
Chancery Court.

Eastern Industrial Services Inc. v. Perry et al., 
No. 2018-0113, complaint filed, 2018 WL 
1008391 (Del. Ch. Feb. 20, 2018).

Eastern Industrial Services Inc. alleges 
that former manager Russel J. Perry and 
competitor Zampell Refractories Inc. worked 
together to harm EISI through Perry’s secret 
employment with Zampell. 

According to the complaint, EISI, a company 
based and incorporated in Newark, Delaware, 
provides industrial services through its 
insulation, coatings and scaffolding divisions. 
Zampell, based in Croydon, Pennsylvania, 
offers similar services. 

For at least seven months in 2017, Perry ran 
the coatings divisions of both companies, “in 
flagrant violation of his fiduciary duties of 
loyalty and confidentiality, unbeknownst to 
EISI,” the complaint says. 

Perry began working for EISI in 1999 and 
was promoted to coatings division manager 
in 2006, the complaint says. The company 
trusted him with its “most sensitive trade 
secrets,” including customer lists and 
financial data, and he was responsible for 
business development, bidding, hiring and 
firing.

MOONLIGHTING 

In October 2017 EISI discovered through a 
customer that Perry had been operating 
Zampell’s coating division since March, using 
for Zampell’s benefit the cellphone and truck 
EISI had provided him, and “setting the stage 
to hijack EISI’s customers for Zampell,” the 
suit says.   

Perry had been working at Zampell with 
an ex-EISI employee, directly competing 
with EISI without disclosing this conflict of 
interest, according to the complaint.

“In violation of his duty to EISI and a condition 
of his employment to work exclusively for” 
the company, Perry took part in a scheme 
to provide “poor customer service and 
disseminat[e] false information about EISI to 
existing EISI customers,” the complaint says.

Perry thus breached his fiduciary duties and 
the duty to disclose, EISI alleges. He also 
tortiously interfered with EISI’s contractual 
relations and prospective economic 
advantage, causing the company substantial 
damages, including loss of sales revenue, 
goodwill and business opportunities.

The company also accuses Zampell of 
tortious interference and aiding and abetting 
Perry’s fiduciary-duty breaches.

The suit further alleges Perry and Zampell 
engaged in a civil conspiracy, unjustly 
enriched themselves, misappropriated trade 
secrets and business opportunities, and 
violated Delaware’s Uniform Trade Secrets 
Act, Del. Code Ann. tit. 6, § 2001, by using 
EISI’s trade secrets for their own benefit.

EISI seeks an injunction to stop Perry and 
Zampell from soliciting, performing services 
for or otherwise contacting EISI customers 
for two years, or working for or owning any 
EISI competitor for two years. 

Finally, EISI asks the court to order Perry 
and Zampell to account for all profits they 
received during the time Perry worked for 
both companies. It also seeks compensation 
for its stolen confidential information and 
lost business opportunities, as well as 
reimbursement for the “undeserved” salary 
and benefits that EISI paid Perry.  WJ

Attorneys:
Plaintiff: James D. Heisman, Heisman Law LLC, 
Wilmington, DE

Related Filings: 
Complaint: 2018 WL 1008391  
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ARBITRATION

California appeals court says trucker hired by staffing firm  
exempt from FAA
(Reuters) – A California state appeals court has ruled that a truck driver’s agreement to arbitrate class-action claims 
with the staffing firm he worked for was not governed by federal law.

Muro v. Cornerstone Staffing Solutions Inc., 
No. D070206, 2018 WL 1024168 (Cal. Ct. App.,  
4th Dist. Feb. 23, 2018).

A three-judge panel of the 4th District Court 
of Appeal on Feb. 23 said Tony Muro was a 
“transportation worker” who was exempt 
from the Federal Arbitration Act, rejecting 
Cornerstone Staffing Solutions’ claim that 
because it is not a transportation company, 
the law should apply.

The decision affirmed a 2016 ruling by a  
state judge in San Diego who denied 
Cornerstone’s motion to compel arbitration 
of the case.

Cornerstone’s lawyers at Ogletree Deakins 
Nash Smoak & Stewart did not respond 
to a request for comment Feb. 26. Neither 
did William Mara of Turley & Mara, who 
represents Muro.

California-based Cornerstone hired Muro 
as a driver in 2012 and placed him with 
a foundation that funds research and  
provides services for children with cancer, 
according to court filings. Muro signed 
an agreement with Cornerstone agreeing 
to arbitrate any class-action claims that  
arose from his employment.

In 2015, Muro filed a proposed class action 
against Cornerstone for a number of  
alleged violations of California wage law, 
including failing to pay all wages owed and 
failing to provide meal and rest breaks.

Cornerstone moved to send the case to 
arbitration, citing the agreement Muro  
signed when he was hired. Class-action 
waivers are unlawful under California law, 
but are valid under the FAA.

Muro countered that he was a transportation 
worker exempt from the FAA, and his 
arbitration agreement was unenforceable 
under California law.

The FAA exempts from its coverage any 
“class of workers engaged in foreign or 
interstate commerce,” such as truck drivers.

A state judge in 2016 sided with Muro and 
rejected Cornerstone’s motion.

On appeal, Cornerstone claimed that Muro 
was not exempt from the FAA because 
he worked for a staffing firm and not a 
transportation company.

The Fourth District on Feb. 23 disagreed, 
saying the FAA exemption hinges on the 
type of work done by an employee, and not a 
company’s main industry.

“Absent specific direction from the United 
States Supreme Court, we decline to ... 
require that workers who are actually 
engaged in transporting goods in foreign or 
interstate commerce also prove that their 
employer is involved in the transportation 
industry,” Justice William Dato wrote.

The panel included Justices Patricia Benke 
and Cynthia Aaron.

On Feb. 26, the Supreme Court granted 
certiorari in New Prime Inc. v. Oliveira,  
No. 17-340, cert. granted, 2018 WL 1037577 
(U.S. Feb. 26, 2018), which questions  
|whether the FAA transportation exemption 
applies to independent contractors. The  
1st U.S. Circuit Court of Appeals in 2017 said 
it did. Oliveira v. New Prime Inc., 857 F.3d 7 
(1st Cir. 2017).

Cornerstone had urged the Fourth District to 
adopt the 11th U.S. Circuit Court of Appeals’ 
reasoning in the 2005 case Hill v. Rent-A-
Center Inc., 398 F.3d 1286. The court in Hill 
said the FAA exemption applies only to 
workers employed by a company “within the 
transportation industry.”

But the court Feb. 23 said the 11th Circuit in 
Hill glossed over the language in the FAA 
exemption, and did not discuss whether,  
or to what extent, a company must be 
devoted to transportation in order for its 
workers to be exempt from the law.  WJ

(Reporting by Daniel Wiessner)

Attorneys:
Plaintiff-respondent: William Turley, David Mara 
and Jamie Serb, Turley & Mara, San Diego, CA

Defendant-appellant: Jack S. Sholkoff,  
Alexandra A. Bodnar and Ashley B. McAteer, 
Ogletree, Deakins, Nash, Smoak & Stewart,  
Los Angeles, CA

Related Filings: 
Opinion: 2018 WL 1024168

See Document Section D (P. 42) for the opinion.
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UNEMPLOYMENT

Fired factory worker can sue GE for alleged lie  
to unemployment board
By Kteba Dunlap, Esq.

A former General Electric Co. employee can sue the company for falsely telling Kentucky unemployment officials that 
he left his job voluntarily, Kentucky’s highest court ruled in response to a question from a federal judge.

REUTERS/Arnd Wiegmann

In re Hickey v. General Electric Co., No. 2017- 
SC-000135-CL, 2018 WL 898919 (Ky. Feb. 15,  
2018).

The state Supreme Court ruled Feb. 15 for 
former GE employee Logan Hickey, citing 
the state’s “negligence per se” law, Ky. Rev. 
Stat. Ann. § 446.070, which classifies most 
criminal violations as automatic negligence 
in a civil context. Making false statements 
to state unemployment officials is a crime 
under Ky. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 341.990, the high 
court noted.

Although Section 341.990 provides no 
explicit remedy when an employer lies to the 
unemployment office about a worker, Logan 
can still invoke the negligence per se statute, 
Kentucky’s justices said.

Justice Laurance B. VanMeter authored the 
opinion in response to a certified question 
from U.S. District Judge Thomas B. Russell 
of the Western District of Kentucky, who 
presides over Hickey’s underlying lawsuit.

NO WORK AVAILABLE
According to the opinion, the dispute arose 
when Hickey, a production line worker 
diagnosed with attention deficit hyperactivity 
disorder, was unable to get his shift changed 
so it would not conflict with his medication 
schedule.

GE at first placed Hickey on unpaid leave 
and said it would notify him if there was an 
opening in the desired shift, the opinion said. 
But the company later fired him, saying his 
union agreement requires line workers to be 
available for any shift, according to the ruling.

When Hickey sought unemployment benefits, 
GE opposed his application by saying he 
had quit voluntarily, leading the state’s 
unemployment insurance commission to 
deny the claim, the opinion said.

After Hickey appealed, the unemployment 
commission reversed its ruling, but by that 
time Hickey had been without income for 
several months, according to the opinion.

NOVEL QUESTION

Hickey sued GE in state court, alleging 
violations of Section 341.990, which 
criminalizes false statements in an 
unemployment insurance proceeding. He 
based his suit on the negligence per se 
provisions of Section 446.070.

After GE removed the case to Judge 
Russell’s federal courtroom, the judge asked 
the Kentucky Supreme Court to decide  
whether plaintiffs can sue under the 
negligence per se statute for alleged 
violations of Section 341.990. Logan v. Gen. 
Elec. Co., No. 16-cv-739, 2017 WL 927234 
(W.D. Ky. Mar. 8, 2017).

GE argued to the high court that allowing 
a per se negligence claim would undermine 
the unemployment commission’s internal 
administrative process, which includes 
appeals.

Hickey countered that the administrative 
scheme provides no relief for economic 
harm resulting from an erroneous benefits 
determination, especially when bad faith 
played a part.

3-PART TEST

Confronting an issue of first impression, 
Kentucky’s justices sided with Hickey.

The state high court applied a three-factor 
test to determine whether the negligence  
per se law authorizes private lawsuits  
seeking to enforce a given statute: The 
statute must be penal, the plaintiff must be 
within the class of people the law exists to 
protect, and the injury must be the type the 
statute is meant to prevent.

Because Hickey’s case passed the test, and 
because he has no other remedy, Kentucky 
law recognizes his claim of negligence per se, 
the court found, returning the case to Judge 
Russell.  WJ

Attorneys:
Plaintiff (Hickey): Robyn R. Smith, Abney & 
McCarty, Louisville, KY

Defendant: Kathryn A. Queensberry, Matthew 
Barszcz and Jeremy S. Rogers, Dinsmore & 
Shohl, Louisville, KY

Related Filings: 
Supreme Court opinion: 2018 WL 898919 
District Court order certifying question:  
2017 WL 927234
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LABOR AND EMPLOYMENT ACTIVITY

Labor and employment roundup for Feb. 26 - March 9, 2018
Here are some recent highlights in private and government agency litigation, enforcement actions, and federal and 
state legislation and regulations.

DISCRIMINATION LAWSUITS AND SETTLEMENTS

Feb. 26 — 2nd Circuit joins 7th Circuit in saying sexual orientation 
bias is sex discrimination. In a closely watched case in which two 
federal agencies backed opposing private parties, the full 2nd U.S. 
Circuit Court of Appeals ruled 10-3 that Title VII of the Civil Rights Act  
of 1964 protects employees against sexual orientation discrimination. 
Last April, the 7th Circuit en banc overruled decades of its own 
precedent to become the first federal appeals court to hold that 
sexual orientation bias is a form of sex discrimination. The estate of 
Donald Zarda, a now-deceased gay skydiving instructor, and the 
Equal Employment Opportunity Commission as a friend of the court 
persuaded the 2nd Circuit judges to overrule two prior decisions 
holding that Title VII’s ban on discrimination “because of ... sex” does 
not cover bias on the basis of sexual orientation. The U.S. Justice 
Department argued as amicus in support of Zarda’s former employer, 
New York-based Altitude Express Inc., saying the lower courts correctly 
ruled Zarda could not pursue a Title VII claim alleging Altitude 
fired him after he told a customer he was gay and she complained.  
Read more: 2/26/18 REUTERS 15:42:38 and 2018 WL 1045014

Feb. 28 — DOJ begins 2nd initiative against sexual harassment, 
this time in the workplace. The U.S. Justice Department’s Civil 
Rights Division has launched another plan — Sexual Harassment in 
the Workplace Initiative — to combat sexual harassment, this time  
focusing on the public sector. The department announced its first 
initiative — Sexual Harassment in Housing Initiative — in October.  
The DOJ, which enforces Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964  
against state and local government employers, filed its first lawsuit 
under the initiative Feb. 28 against the city of Houston, alleging 
female firefighters were subjected to a hostile work environment. The 
workplace initiative will include outreach to public sector employers 
focused on five critical areas: creating safe avenues for sexual 
harassment reporting; ensuring managers support anti-discrimination 
policies and practices; putting accountability measures in place to 
ensure the timely resolution of complaints; adopting policies that 
include regular training for employees; and providing safeguards 
against retaliation for persons who report harassment and others, the 
department said. Read more: 2018 WL 1083304 and 2018 WL 1100726

March 7 — EEOC wins summary judgment at 6th Circuit on  
Title VII transgender bias claim. The ban on sex discrimination under 
Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 covers discrimination against 
workers who are transgender or making a gender transition, the  
6th U.S. Circuit Court of Appeals has ruled. The decision came in one 
of the first cases the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission 

brought on behalf of a transgender employee. The commission 
sued R.G. & G.R. Harris Funeral Homes Inc. in 2014, alleging owner  
Thomas Rost violated Title VII by firing funeral director Aimee Stephens 
after she said she planned to transition from a male to a female.  
A Detroit federal judge granted summary judgment to R.G. in 
2016, saying Rost had a religious rights exemption from Title VII’s  
anti-discrimination provisions under the Religious Freedom 
Restoration Act. The appeals court overturned the ruling and granted 
summary judgment to the EEOC, saying Rost did not establish 
how complying with Title VII infringed on his religious rights as a  
Christian funeral home owner, noting he could not rely on his  
patrons’ presumed biases to justify discrimination. Read more: 3/7/18 
REUTERS 17:52:22 and 2018 WL 1181025

March 8 — IT staffing firm accused of rejecting applicant in his 
70s because ‘age will matter,’ settles EEOC suit. A Princeton,  
New Jersey-based IT staffing company has agreed to pay $50,000 
to resolve an Equal Employment Opportunity Commission lawsuit 
alleging it refused to consider a job applicant for work after learning 
he was born in 1945, saying “age will matter.” In a suit filed last year in  
the U.S. District Court for the District of New Jersey, the EEOC  
said Diverse Lynx LLC rejected Kadambi Vijaisimh from further 
consideration for an information technology project management 
position because of his age in violation of the Age Discrimination 
in Employment Act. The monetary settlement to Vijaisimh includes 
$25,000 in lost wages and an equal amount for damages, according 
to the consent decree entered March 6. Read more: 2018 WL 1194397

WAGE-AND-HOUR LAWSUITS AND SETTLEMENTS

Feb. 26 — State cites L.A. restaurant for more than $500,000  
in wage theft. The California Labor Commissioner says a Los Angeles 
restaurant paid workers as little as $4 per hour, failed to pay them 
overtime or for breaks, and required them to work off the clock, 
resulting in more than $519,000 in wage theft. Beginning in July 2014,  
25 employees at the Los Angeles location of the Shrimp Lover were  
paid subminimum-wage flat rates per shift, the state said. Although 
they began making the minimum wage of $10 per hour in 2017, they 
were still underpaid because they generally worked off the clock  
30 to 45 minutes per shift and were denied overtime, the state 
said. The Labor Commissioner’s Office ordered restaurant owners 
Jaruwat Sonachai and Sineenart Klinmalai to pay workers $471,756 
for underpaid minimum wage, overtime and meal and rest breaks, 
including $230,156 in waiting time penalties and liquidated  
damages, plus $47,950 in civil penalties for the wage theft violations 
and improper wage statements. Read more: 2018 WL 1061840
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March 5 — China-based construction contractors owe  
$14 million to Saipan Casino and Hotel builders. Four construction 
contractors from China have agreed to pay 2,400 Chinese workers a 
total of $13.9 million in back pay and liquidated damages to resolve  
U.S. Labor Department charges of Fair Labor Standards Act minimum 
wage and overtime violations. The DOL said the companies —  
MCC International Saipan Ltd., Beilida New Materials System 
Engineering Co., Gold Mantis Construction Decoration, and Sino Great 
Wall International Engineering Co. — brought the workers to Saipan in 
the Northern Mariana Islands, a U.S. commonwealth, to work on the 
construction of the Saipan Casino and Hotel. The companies failed 
to pay them minimum wage or overtime compensation, and three 
of the contractors improperly employed workers under a tourist visa 
waiver program instead of proper work visas, the department said.  
Read more: 2018 WL 1151067 and 2018 WL 1165960

SAFETY ENFORCEMENT

Feb. 27 — Florida enclosure installer penalized after employee 
suffered fatal fall. The Occupational Safety and Health Administration 
has proposed to fine a Naples, Florida-based pool and patio enclosure 
installation company $40,000 after an employee installing screen 
enclosures fell to his death. After investigating the incident, the agency 
issued L.I. Aluminum Design Inc. four serious citations for exposing 
workers to falls, failing to protect workers from fall hazards of 10 feet 
or more, and failing to train workers on fall hazards and how to use 
ladders correctly. Read more: 2018 WL 1063596 and 2018 WL 1081947

March 7 — Pennsylvania carpentry company fined $213,000 
for workplace safety violations. The Occupational Safety and 
Health Administration has fined carpentry framing company Strong 
Contractors Inc., based in Bensalem, Pennsylvania, $213,318 for two 
willful and five serious safety violations at a Lansdale, Pennsylvania, 
worksite. OSHA said it found the company allowed employees to work 
at the site without fall and head protection. Strong Contractors also 

failed to train employees operating powered industrial trucks, perform 
worksite safety inspections or provide fire extinguishers for flammable 
liquid storage, the agency said. Read more: 2018 WL 1181747 and  
2018 WL 1193184

OTHER LITIGATION/AGENCY ACTION

Feb. 27 — State law doesn’t bar Minneapolis’ minimum wage 
hike to $15, judge says. A Minnesota state court judge has tossed 
a company’s challenge to a Minneapolis ordinance raising the city’s 
minimum wage to $15 per hour, saying the state’s labor law specifying 
a lower minimum wage does not preempt the city’s law. Hennepin 
County District Court Judge Susan Burke said the Minnesota Fair 
Labor Standards Act set a floor, not a ceiling, for the amount workers 
must be paid, and it allows cities to adjust their laws. Graco Inc., a 
Minneapolis-based manufacturer of fluid-handling systems, sued the 
city in November, alleging its 2017 law increasing the city’s minimum 
wage to $15 by 2022 was incompatible with state law that defines 
small and large businesses differently and sets a lower minimum wage 
for some young workers. Judge Burke agreed with the city that it had 
the authority to establish its own wage provisions because the state’s 
wage law does not require statewide uniformity. Read more: 2/28/18 
REUTERS LEGAL 23:41:00

March 6 — DOL launches pilot program for quick settlement 
of inadvertent OT, minimum wage violations. The U.S. Labor 
Department has announced a six-month pilot program for  
speeding up resolution of unintentional violations of the overtime and 
minimum wage provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act, and getting 
back pay to workers sooner and without litigation. Under the Payroll 
Audit Independent Determination program, or PAID, employers will 
review FLSA compliance materials, conduct an audit of their own pay 
practices, and self-report and agree to correct any violations under the 
oversight of the department’s Wage and Hour Division. Read more: 
2018 WL 1167926

LABOR AND EMPLOYMENT ACTIVITY
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PUBLIC EMPLOYMENT AND ARBITRATION NEWS

Here are some reports from the Thomson Reuters Public Employee Reporter and Labor Arbitration Information System 
series on recent significant cases involving public sector collective bargaining statutes from several states, and recent 
private and public sector arbitration decisions.

SUFFICIENT SHOWING OF INTEREST PROMPTS REMAND 
FOR FURTHER PROCEEDINGS

Ruling: A Pennsylvania Labor Relations Board hearing examiner 
determined a petitioning union demonstrated the requisite 30 percent 
showing of interest required by Section 607 of the Public Employe 
Relations Act and directed the remand of the instant representation 
petition to the board secretary for further proceedings. That petition 
sought to represent employees of the Pennsylvania State System of 
Higher Education.

What it means: Here, the initial list of petitioned-for employees on 
the payroll immediately prior to the filing date of the petition was 
inaccurate because it contained four more names than the 201 actually 
in the petitioned-for unit. Therefore, based on the accurate list of 201 
employees the petitioning union demonstrated an adequate showing 
of interest when it submitted at least 61 valid authorization cards to 
satisfy the 30 percent threshold set forth in Section 607 of PERA.

In the Matter of the Employes of Pennsylvania State System of 
Higher Education, 2018 WL 1108727, 49 PPER 62 (Pa. Labor 
Relations Bd., H. Exam’r Feb. 9, 2018).

UNION COMMITS UNFAIR PRACTICE BY SEEKING 
ARBITRATION OF CHALLENGE TO TEACHER DISCIPLINE

Ruling: In an unpublished decision, the Michigan Court of Appeals 
affirmed the Michigan Employment Relations Commission’s decision 
regarding an unfair-labor-practice charge. It upheld MERC’s 
determination that a teachers’ union committed an unfair practice 
by demanding to arbitrate a grievance concerning a prohibited  
bargaining topic, i.e., teacher discipline. The court rejected the union’s 
contention that it was permitted to contest decisions regarding 
individual teacher discipline through arbitration, despite the statutory 
prohibition against challenges to teacher discipline. It upheld MERC’s 
determination that challenges to discipline procedures — including  
due process claims — also constituted prohibited subjects of 
bargaining.

What it means: The appeals court noted that the terms of 
Section 15(3)(m) of the state’s Public Employment Relations Act 
clearly and plainly prohibit collective bargaining regarding “decisions 
concerning the discharge or discipline of an individual employee.”  
It determined that bargaining agreement provisions pertaining to a 
prohibited subject were not enforceable.

Ionia County Intermediate Education Association v. Ionia County 
Intermediate School District, 2018 WL 1108704, 31 MPER 40 (Mich. 
Ct. App. Feb. 22, 2018).

TOWNSHIP MUST BARGAIN LIMITATION ON 
CONSECUTIVE SHIFTS FIREFIGHTERS MAY WORK

Ruling: A township employer violated Section 6(1)(a) and (e) of the 
Pennsylvania Labor Relations Act as read in pari materia with Act 111 
when it unilaterally implemented a work rule which limited the number 
of shifts firefighters could consecutively work. A Pennsylvania Labor 
Relations Board hearing examiner determined the issue of work shifts 
was a mandatory subject of bargaining and directed the employer to 
cease and desist from interfering with, restraining and coercing certain 
township employees in the exercise of guaranteed rights and to cease 
refusing to bargain over the mandatory bargaining subject of shifts.

What it means: The hearing examiner explained that the policy, which 
limited to two shifts or 48 hours total, the number of shifts a firefighter 
could consecutively work, represented a major policy change and 
involved a mandatory subject of bargaining because it imposed new 
limitations on the shifts a firefighter could swap with another firefighter.

Greater Hanover Professional Firefighters Association Local 2045 v. 
Penn Township, 2018 WL 1108728, 49 PPER 63 (Pa. Labor Relations 
Bd., H. Exam’r. Feb. 16, 2018).

INSUFFICIENT SHOWING OF INTEREST SUPPORTS 
DISMISSAL OF REPRESENTATION PETITION

Ruling: A Pennsylvania Labor Relations Board hearing examiner made 
absolute and final the decision of the board secretary to dismiss a 
union’s petition, which sought to represent certain employees of the 
Pennsylvania State System of Higher Education. The hearing examiner 
concluded the board secretary did not err in determining the petition 
was not accompanied by the requisite 30 percent showing of interest 
required by Section 607 of the Public Employe Relations Act.

What it means: Although the employer, the Pennsylvania State  
System of Higher Education, supplied an inaccurate list of employees, 
which contained the names of 49 employees, record evidence showed 
that the accurate list of employees on the payroll immediately prior 
to the filing date of the petition actually included the names of  
52 employees. Therefore, in order to satisfy the 30 percent showing 
of interest required under Section 607 of the state’s Public Employe 
Relations Act, the petitioning union had to submit at least 16 valid  
authorization cards. Because the union submitted less than  
16 valid cards, the hearing examiner determined the union failed to 
demonstrate the requisite showing of interest.

In the Matter of the Employes of Pennsylvania State System of 
Higher Education, 2018 WL 1108725, 49 PPER 61 (Pa. Labor 
Relations Bd., H. Exam’r Feb. 9, 2018).
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STATE APPEALS COURT RULES PERC PROPERLY 
REJECTED UNTIMELY UNFAIR-PRACTICE CHARGE

Ruling: In an unpublished decision, the New Jersey Superior Court 
Appellate Division affirmed state Public Employment Relations 
Commission’s dismissal of an untimely unfair-practice charge. It upheld 
PERC’s rejection of a state employee’s challenge to her allegedly 
retaliatory reassignment, where the charge was filed over six months 
after the date the employee admittedly learned that her reassignment 
was considered to be permanent. The appeals court noted that the 
employee’s own email communication with management confirmed 
the untimeliness of the charge.

What it means: The appeals court noted that New Jersey Employer-
Employee Relations Act provisions require an unfair-practice charge to 
be filed within six months of the alleged unfair practice.

New Jersey Department of Transportation v. Lyons, 2018 WL 1008275, 
44 NJPER 74 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. Feb. 1, 2018).

SCHOOL DISTRICT COMMITS UNFAIR LABOR PRACTICE 
BY LIMITING TIME, PLACE FOR STAFF LEAFLETING

Ruling: In a proposed decision, the California Public Employment 
Relations Board’s administrative law judge decided that a school 
district’s limits on employee leafleting activity interfered with their 
right to engage in protected activity, where the employer failed to show 
that its directive was dictated by operational necessity. The ALJ also 
decided that the employer refused to meet and confer in good faith 
when it delayed its response to the union’s information request.

What it means: Under PERB case law, the ALJ noted, restrictions on 
employee solicitation — including the distribution of union literature 
during non-work time and in non-work areas — are invalid unless the 
employer shows that special circumstances make such rules necessary 
to maintain production or discipline.

Petaluma Federation of Teachers, Local 1881 v. Petaluma City 
Elementary School District/Joint Union High School District,  
2018 WL 1062517, 42 PERC 97 (Cal. Public Emp’t Relations Bd., 
A.L.J. Jan. 31, 2018).

ARBITRATOR: UNION CAN’T GRIEVE NON-BU 
EMPLOYEE’S BENEFITS

Ruling: An arbitrator has ruled that a grievance protesting a  
non-bargaining unit employee’s pension benefits was inarbitrable.  
The union grieved that the city breached the labor agreement by 
offering the fire chief, a non-bargaining unit member, a higher pension 
rate than that provided in the contract. The union argued that the 
grievance was arbitrable as all bargaining unit members participating 

in the pension plan were “injured parties.” Moreover, the fire chief’s 
agreement with the city provided that his pension benefits were to be 
distributed from the firefighters’ pension plan, which was governed 
by the labor agreement. The city insisted that since the fire chief 
was not a member of the bargaining unit, the union had no right to 
file a grievance over his benefits. Rather, the employer averred, if the 
union disputed the city’s agreement with the fire chief, it could pose 
its challenge through the provisions of the trust agreement created  
to receive contributions from bargaining unit employees and pay 
benefits in accordance with the city charter and labor agreement.

What it means: Where the contractual grievance and arbitration 
procedure was limited to disputes involving bargaining unit members, 
the union’s challenge of the pension benefits offered to the fire chief 
— a non-unit employee — was not subject to resolution via the labor 
agreement. Additionally, the arbitrator had no authority to review the 
provisions of the trust agreement.

City of Stamford (CT) and International Association of Fire Fighters, 
Local 786, 2017 WL 3262552, 46 LAIS 34 (May 26, 2017).

ARBITRATOR: INJURY FALSIFICATION JUSTIFIES 
EMPLOYEE’S TERMINATION

Ruling: An arbitrator has ruled that a grievant’s dishonesty about the 
cause of an on-duty injury justified his discharge. A heavy equipment 
operator with 14 years’ service was terminated for falsifying the cause 
of a hand injury in order to receive workers’ compensation benefits. 
The grievant claimed that, while taking a tool off a lowboy, he slipped 
and twisted his ankle, which caused him to fall and hurt his hand. 
Following an investigation, the city concluded that the grievant 
falsified the true reason for his injury: he angrily punched a steel door 
following an argument with his supervisor about being directed to no 
longer go home for lunch but remain in the field. The union argued 
that management failed to conduct a fair investigation or establish the 
grievant’s intent to falsify the cause of his injury.

What it means: While there were no eyewitnesses to the grievant’s 
injury, the arbitrator found persuasive the conclusion of two expert 
witnesses who testified that they believed “with reasonable medical 
probability” that the grievant’s hand injury “occurred in some other 
way such as punching a smooth flat surface,” rather than from a fall. 
The arbitrator rejected the union’s claim that the city’s investigation 
was inadequate and unfair, noting that management did not rush 
to judgment or refuse to consider evidence that corroborated the 
grievant’s version of events.

City of Stamford (CT) and International Union of Engineers, Local 30,  
2017 WL 3262553, 46 LAIS 35 (May 26, 2017).

PUBLIC EMPLOYMENT AND ARBITRATION NEWS
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RECENTLY FILED COMPLAINTS 

Case Name Court Docket # Filing 
Date Allegations Relief Sought

Mullins v. Horizon 
Pharma USA Inc.

2018 WL 1044735

S.D. Cal. 18-cv-0399 2/21/2018

Horizon Pharma violated the federal and state 
False Claims acts and public policy by wrongfully 
terminating its senior director, global patient 
advocacy in retaliation for her successful federal 
False Claims Act whistleblower suit against a 
previous employer.

Back pay, lost bonuses, 
front pay, lost health 
insurance benefits and 
stock options; reputational 
injury; emotional distress; 
exemplary and punitive 
damages; fees and costs

Chevalier v. Google 
Inc.

2018 WL 1015372

Cal. Super. 
Ct. (San 
Francisco)

CGC-18-
564473 2/21/2018

Google discriminated against, harassed, 
retaliated against and wrongfully terminated 
transgender employee with disabilities who 
made politically charged employee forum 
comments, all in violation of the California Fair 
Employment and Housing Act and Labor Code.

Compensatory damages, 
including lost earnings 
and employee benefits; 
emotional distress; punitive 
damages; injunctive relief, 
including reinstatement 

Sanchez v. 
Wavedivision 
Holdings LLC

Cal. Super. 
Ct. (San 
Mateo) 

18-civ-
00684 2/09/2018

Class action. Phone, internet and video provider 
Wavedivision Holdings failed to properly 
calculate and pay technicians overtime or provide 
rest and meal breaks or compensate technicians 
for missing them, in violation of California law.

Class certification, wages 
due, injunctive relief, 
statutory penalties, 
compensatory damages, 
restitutionary disgorgement

Erickson v. John 
Muir Health

Cal. Super. 
Ct. (Contra 
Costa)

C-18-00307 2/13/2018

Class action. Health care facility owner John 
Muir Health failed to properly calculate and pay 
employees overtime or provide rest and meal 
breaks or compensate employees for missing 
them, in violation of California law.

Class certification, wages 
due, injunctive relief, 
statutory penalties, 
compensatory damages, 
restitution, disgorgement 

Adkins v. CSX 
Transportation Inc. S.D. W. Va. 18-cv-321 2/15/2018

Railroad operator CSX Transportation terminated 
more than 40 employees for using their health 
insurance, discriminated against them based on 
disability, accused them of committing fraud, 
denied them medical leaves of absence and 
violated their rights by exposing their medical 
records, in violation of ERISA, Section 504 of the 
Rehabilitation Act, the Family and Medical Leave 
Act and state law.

Back pay and benefits; 
front pay; compensatory, 
punitive and liquidated 
damages; out-of-pocket 
expenses; contributions to 
fringe benefits, including 
pension and retirement; 
declaratory and injunctive 
relief; reinstatement; fees, 
costs and interest

Doe v. Ogletree, 
Deakins, Nash, 
Smoak & Stewart

2018 WL 1006131

Cal. Super. 
Ct. (Los 
Angeles)

BC695028 2/21/2018

Labor and employment law firm Ogletree and a 
male partner discriminated against and harassed 
gay, Latino staff attorney/of counsel based on 
his sex, race and sexual orientation, denied him 
equal pay, retaliated against him for complaining 
about the discrimination and constructively 
discharged him, in violation of California law.

Economic, non-economic, 
compensatory and punitive 
damages; pre-judgment 
interest; costs and fees

Plana v. Mnuchin D. Conn. 18-cv-337 2/26/2018

U.S. Treasury Department discriminated against 
IRS employee in terms of training, schedule, 
discipline, based on his Hispanic national origin, 
color, sexual orientation and sex (male, LGBT) 
and retaliated against him in violation of Title VII 
of the Civil Rights Act of 1964.

Compensatory damages, 
fees and costs, other 
equitable relief

Johnson v. 
Cincinnati Bell Inc. S.D. Ohio 18-cv-138 2/23/2018

Class action. Voice, data, high-speed internet and 
video entertainment company failed to properly 
calculate and pay overtime compensation to 
outbound sales representatives, promptly pay 
them wages, and keep proper records in violation 
of federal and state wage laws.

Class certification; unpaid 
overtime and liquidated 
damages; declaratory and 
injunctive relief; interest, 
costs and fees
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Gender discrimination
CONTINUED FROM PAGE 1

The plaintiff “was clearly retaliated against due to her gender 
and for speaking out against harassment by a male colleague 

and morally treated wrong by her employer and superiors,”  
her attorney, Carney Shegerian, said in a statement.

“[Dr. Pinter-Brown] was clearly retaliated 
against due to her gender and for speaking 
out against harassment by a male colleague 
and morally treated wrong by her employer 
and superiors,” Shegerian said in a 
statement. “Hopefully, what appears to be 
an institution-wide problem of sweeping 
gender inequality under the rug can start to 
be fixed.”

UCLA’s medical school issued a statement 
saying it was disappointed in the verdict 
and was exploring its options. The school 
stressed its anti-discrimination policy 
and pointed to trial testimony from other  
female physicians who found the work 
environment fair and equitable.

“UCLA Health and the David Geffen 
School of Medicine at UCLA are committed 
to maintaining a workplace free from 
discrimination, intimidation, retaliation or 
harassment of any kind,” the statement said. 
“Discrimination based on gender, race or any 
other basis is a violation of both the law and 
university policy and a betrayal of UCLA’s 
values as a community.”

‘REPUTATION FOR BEING  
AN ANGRY WOMAN’

Pinter-Brown sued the regents in June 2016, 
alleging she was subjected to gender-based 
harassment and discrimination as one of  
the few female faculty members at the 
medical school. The administration failed 
to properly address her complaints, the suit 
said.

Pinter-Brown began working as director 
of UCLA’s lymphoma program and a  
full-time clinical professor of medicine in June 
2005. Over the course of her career there, 
she received numerous positive reviews and 
awards, according to the suit.

She said a male colleague called on her 
several times a day trying to socialize with 
her in 2011, but when the interactions began 
to affect her work she told him she could no 
longer meet with him.

After that, he began to treat her differently, 
demean her and undermine her role as 
director, including rejecting her ideas at 
program meetings and failing to follow her 
directives, her complaint said.

Pinter-Brown reported the harassment to 
the university’s Title IX office, which handles 
complaints under Title IX of the Education 
Amendments of 1972, 20 U.S.C.A. § 1681. 
Title IX bars sex discrimination in federally 
funded education programs.

She was told she had a “reputation for being 
an angry woman,” and the office ignored her 
complaints, the suit said.

Pinter-Brown alleged that when she 
complained again of unfair and hostile 
treatment by her harasser, school officials 
told her to avoid and ignore him.

She was unable to work at certain times and 
attend meetings because her colleague was 
there, so she began to feel isolated from the 
program, the suit said.

Pinter-Brown said she was subjected to 
an audit of her research program based on 
unwarranted complaints about her methods. 
Ultimately the university suspended her 
research privileges and stripped her of her 
title as acting director of the lymphoma 
program in August 2012, replacing her with 
her harasser, the suit said.

After facing continued hostility and 
mistreatment by her male colleagues, she 
was forced to resign in 2015 because she  
was “unable to endure the intolerable 
working conditions, the isolation and 
the tarnishing of her career by her male 
colleagues,” according to the complaint.

Pinter-Brown, who was 61 when she filed 
the suit, asserted claims for age and gender 
discrimination, gender harassment and 

retaliation under Section 12940 of the 
California Fair Housing and Employment Act, 
Cal. Gov’t Code § 12940.

VERDICT REACHED

The day before the jury handed down its 
verdict in favor of Pinter-Brown, the regents 
filed a motion for a directed verdict in their 
favor.

The defendants argued that Pinter-
Brown failed to support of her claims of 
discrimination with evidence that any of the 
university’s actions were based on her age or 
gender, noting that her research privileges 
were reinstated in October 2014.

The jury found in favor of Pinter-Brown 
on her claims for gender discrimination 
and retaliation, but rejected her age 
discrimination claim.  WJ

Attorneys:
Plaintiff: Carney Shegerian, Shegerian & 
Associates, Santa Monica, CA

Defendant: Barbara A. Fitzgerald, Morgan,  
Lewis & Bockius, Los Angeles, CA

Related Filings: 
Verdict form: 2018 WL 1046325
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Equal pay
CONTINUED FROM PAGE 1

youth-focused content for a number of media 
platforms, the suit says.

“Defendant’s leadership fosters or condones 
a company culture that marginalizes, 
demeans and undervalues women,” the suit 
says.

As evidence of the company-wide 
discrimination against women, the 
complaint quotes a December statement to 
staff in which Vice’s founders Shane Smith 
and Suroosh Alvi allegedly admitted the 
inequality.

“Listening to our employees over the past 
year, the truth is inescapable: from the  
top down, we have failed as a company 
to create a safe and inclusive workplace 
where everyone, especially women, can feel 
respected and thrive,” the pair is quoted as 
saying.

Smith and Alvi also allegedly committed to 
the goal of achieving pay parity by the end of 
2018, the suit says.

The executives’ statement came the same 
day The New York Times reported on Vice’s 
four settlements worth more than $184,000 
to resolve allegations of sexual harassment 
or defamation against employees. More 
than two dozen women working at Vice said 

they had experienced or witnessed sexual 
misconduct, according to the report.

Smith and Alvi were not personally accused 
of misconduct, according to a December 
Reuters report.

GENDER-BASED PAY DISPARITIES

According to the complaint, Rose worked as 
a channel and project manager producing 
content for Vice from April 2014 until 
February 2016. The Los Angeles resident 
says she worked out of both the California 
and New York offices.

She says that as part of her work she received 
an internal memorandum in 2015 that listed 
the salaries of more than 30 employees.  
The memo showed that Rose and other 
female employees made “far less” than their 
male counterparts for doing essentially the 
same work, the suit says.

For example, a female employee who earned 
$50,000 was paid $15,000 less per year 
than her male counterparts for doing similar 
work, according to the complaint. When the 
woman was promoted to managing editor, 
her salary was $15,000 less than the man 
who previously held the position, the suit 
says.

Rose alleges a male subordinate she hired 
made about $25,000 more than she did 
and was quickly promoted and ultimately 
became her supervisor.

The suit alleges the company’s discriminatory 
compensation and promotion system 
results in different pay for male and female 
employees performing the same tasks.

“The differential in pay between male and 
female employees was not due to seniority, 
merit, the quantity or quality of production 
or a bona fide factor other than sex, such as 
education, training or experience, but was 
due to gender,” the complaint says.

The suit asserts claims under the California 
Equal Pay Act, Cal. Labor Code § 1197.5; the 
state’s unfair-competition law, Cal. Bus. &  
Prof. Code § 17200; the New York State 
Equal Pay Act, N.Y. Lab. Law § 194; and the 
Fair Labor Standards Act as amended by the 
Equal Pay Act of 1963, 29 U.S.C.A. § 206(d).

Rose seeks declaratory and injunctive relief,  
a court order requiring the defendants to 
adjust their wage rates and benefits and 
cease their discriminatory pay practices, 
compensatory and liquidated damages, and 
penalties.  WJ

Attorneys:
Plaintiff: Michael S. Morrison and Jessica S. Choi, 
Alexander Krakow & Glick, Santa Monica, CA

Related Filings: 
Complaint: 2018 WL 850994

See Document Section A (P. 23) for the 
complaint.
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